# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DAVID MILLER,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 93,792

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

# INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

W. C. McLAIN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (850) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT FLA. BAR NO. 201170

#

# PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

References to the clerk's record will be designated with the prefix "R" followed by the volume and page number. The transcript will be similarly designated with the prefix "T." An appendix is attached to this brief containing the trial court's sentencing order.

This brief has been prepared using Courier New, 12 point, a font which is not proportionally spaced.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

# Procedural Progress Of The Case

A Duval County grand jury indicted David Miller, Jr., on June 26, 1997, for the first degree murder of Albert Floyd and for the aggravated battery of Linda Fullwood. (R1:18-19) Miller proceeded to a jury trial on June 22, 1998. (T5:3) On June 26, 1998, the jury found Miller quilty as charged of both counts indictment.(R2:316-317) At the conclusion of the penalty phase portion of the trial held on July 7, 1998, (T11:811), the jury recommended a death sentence for the murder by a vote of seven to five. (R2:350) On July 17, 1998, the court ordered a presentence investigation, considered the State's request for habitual violent felony sentencing on the aggravated battery and allowed the defense the opportunity to present further evidence or argument pertaining to sentencing. (R3:590-597) Miller clarified one part of his penalty phase testimony. (R3:596-597) The State and the Defense presented written memorandums instead of argument. (R3:594-595)

On July 24, 1998, Circuit Judge L. Haldane Taylor adjudged Miller guilty on both counts. (R2:356, 360) The court sentenced Miller to death for the murder and to 25 years as an habitual offender for the aggravated battery. (R2:358-359, 361-362, 364-375; R3:599-626)

In support of the death sentence, the court found the following aggravating circumstances: (1) Miller had been previously convicted of another violent felony based on a 1986 conviction for second degree murder and the contemporaneous conviction for aggravated battery in this case; (2) the homicide was committed during an attempt to commit a robbery; and (3) the homicide was committed for pecuniary gain. (R2:365-366)(App A) The court merged the latter two factors into one aggravating circumstance. (R2:366)(App A) In mitigation, the court found the following regarding nonstatutory circumstances: (1) the court rejected the contention that Miller did not intend to kill the victim; (2) the court found that the victim was rendered unconscious immediately and did not suffer; (3) the court found that Miller turned himself in to the police; (4) the court found that the alternate sentence for murder is life without possible release; (5) the court found that Miller exhibited remorse and apologized to the victim's family; (6) the court found that Miller cooperated with the police investigation; (7) the court rejected as mitigating that the defendant suffered an abusive childhood and his father was an alcoholic; (8) the court found and considered as part of Miller's cooperation with police, that he did not resist arrest; (9) the court rejected as a mitigating factor that Miller had an alcohol and drug use problem during his adult life; (10) the court rejected as mitigating that Miller supported himself through work at labor pools; (11) the court found that Miller suffered emotional distress over the death of his sister and close cousin; (12) the court found that Miller has a frontal lobe deficit which affects inhibition and impulse control; (13) the court found that Miller would likely adapt well to long-term incarceration; (14) the court found that Miller was loved by his family and had performed good deeds; and (15) the court found that Miller had adjusted well while incarcerated. (R2:366-374)(App A)

Miller filed his notice of appeal to this Court on August 21, 1998. (R2:385)

# Guilt Phase -- The Prosecution's Case

On March 5, 1997, Albert Floyd lived on the street with his girlfriend, Linda Fullwood. (T7:268-271) They slept on the concrete floor under a covered doorway behind the Episcopal Church bookstore building. (T7:270, 273) As was his routine, Floyd awoke at 6:00 a.m. to catch a bus to his job in telemarketing sales. (T7:270) He returned from work around 7:00 p.m. (T7:270) Upon his return, Floyd and Fullwood talked and had something to eat. (T7:271) They shared three 16-ounce cans of beer. (T 7:291-292) Fullwood said they pooled their funds and purchased a \$10 rock of crack cocaine which they smoked. (T7:271-272, 291-293) According to Fullwood, she and

Floyd did not use crack everyday; they usually reserved its use for the weekend. (T7:289-294) Fullwood and Floyd went behind the church building to sleep around 11:00 to 11:30 p.m. (T7:272) They had blankets and quilts to use. (T7:273) Floyd always positioned himself toward the outside, and Fullwood slept closer to the building. (T7:273)

During the night, Fullwood awoke to find a man beating Floyd with a pipe or stick. (T7:274) Floyd was still asleep, and he never moved from that position. (T7:297) Fullwood screamed and verbally confronted the man, asking him why he was hitting Floyd. (T7:274) The man turned and began hitting her in the head, arm, and side. (T7:274-275) Fullwood could not identify the man, but described him as a black man wearing light colored clothes. (T7:275-276)

Jimmy Hall was walking along Duval Street about 3:00 a.m. when he heard someone yelling, "Stop! Stop! Why are you doing this?" (T7:305-306) Hall ran behind the church building where he saw a man beating two people with a pipe. (T7:305-306, 308-309) The two people had been sleeping and were still under covers. (T7:306-307) Hall walked to within 10 or 15 feet and saw the man swing the pipe three times, striking the woman twice and the man once. (T7:308-309, 326-327) Hall could see blood sling off of the pipe onto the ceiling and walls of the covered doorway area. (T7:318-319) The pipe was four or five feet long with a bent end. (T7:315) The man

used both hands to swing the pipe, and he was hitting with the bent end. (T7:315) Hall yelled at the man to stop. (T7:308) The man turned and started walking toward Hall, but he then ran away around the building. (T7:309) Although the man took the pipe with him, he discarded it, and Hall heard the pipe hit a hard surface. (T7:319-320)

Hall went to aid Fullwood, who was standing up. (T7:309) The man was still laying down, covered in blood, and he did not move. (7:310) Fullwood asked Hall to go to the Y.M.C.A. across the street and ask someone to call the police. (T7: 309) Fullwood walked to the street to wait for the police. (T7:276) Officer John Merritt arrived within a few minutes. (T7:276, 310, 332)

Fullwood suffered a concussion, a broken arm, two broken fingers and several fractured ribs. (T7:278-279) Floyd died from his injuries which consisted of three blows to the head. (T7:339-350)

Dr. Bonifacio Floro performed the autopsy on Floyd. (T7:339-343) Floro found three lacerations to the head which produced a wound fracturing the skull and penetrating into the brain. (T7:348-351) The wounds were consistent with blows from a pipe. (T7:351) Any one of the blows would have produced unconsciousness. (T7:35-356) These injuries caused Floyd's death. (T:7:352) In Floro's

opinion, the death was a homicide. (T7:354) The toxicology tests Floro performed on Floyd found evidence of cocaine. (T7:353)

Detective Reddish found the pipe on the roof of the church building during his investigation. (T7:365-370) He had a crime scene technician, Raymond Godbee, retrieve the pipe and carry it to the crime lab. (T7:375-378) Frank Depreso, a forensic serologist found the presence of human blood on the bent end of the pipe. (T7:385-386) There was no way to determine the age of the blood stain. (T7:386) Carol Herring, a latent fingerprint analyst, was unable to develop any usable prints on the pipe. (T7:393-399)

Two and one half months after the homicide, David Miller approached a police officer in Baton Rouge, Louisiana, and told him had killed in Jacksonville he someone and wanted confess.(T8:417) Detective Willie Vick spoke to Miller at the police Department. (T8:417-418) After Vick advised Miller of his rights, Miller told the detective that he had beaten a black man to death and had also beaten a woman while trying to rob the man.(T8:418-420) The man and woman were sleeping. (T8:420-421)Miller said he intended to knock the man unconscious with a five to six foot long pipe which was curved at the end. (T8:420-421) The woman who was also under the blanket woke up and started screaming. (T8:420-421) Miller said he struck her with the pipe. (T8:420-421) Another man came up and interrupted Miller, he stopped striking the woman and fled. (T8:420-421) Detective Vick telephoned Detective Reddish in Jacksonville who spoke to Miller. (T8:425)

Reddish's questioned Miller during the telephone call, and Miller again related the circumstances of the homicide. (T8:511-Miller said he was high on drugs and alcohol that night, and he wanted money to buy more drugs or alcohol to maintain his high. (T8:513) He picked up a metal pipe and began looking for someone to rob of money, drugs or alcohol. (T8:513-514) Behind a building, Miller saw a man sleeping, and he raised the pipe and struck the man. (T8:515-516) To Miller's surprise, a woman arose from under the blanket -- he thought the man was alone. (T8:516) When the woman screamed, Miller started hitting her. (T8:516) A man came up and confronted Miller. (T8:516-517) Miller stopped hitting the woman, looked at the man who had just walked up and held the pipe in a threatening manner to keep the man from attacking him. (T8:517) Miller then backed away and fled on foot. (T8:517) He threw the pipe down. (T8:517)

Detective Reddish asked Detective Vick to obtain a statement from Miller. (T8:523) Vick conducted a full videotaped interview of Miller about the homicide. (T8:425-491) (State's Exhibit 12) During the videotaped statement, Miller related the following about the events surrounding the homicide of Albert Floyd:

Miller told the detectives that he contacted the police because he believed that people were looking for him and that his conscience was bothering him. (T8:438-439) He realized that what he had done was wrong and he wanted to apologize to the victim's family. (T8:482-483) Additionally, he felt as if the victim had family looking for him and he felt death was near. (T8:481-483) About two and a half months earlier, Miller accidentally killed a homeless man, he was trying to rob, with a pipe. (T8:439) He also struck a woman who was with the man. (T8:440, 445-446)

On the night of the homicide, Miller had been drinking and smoking crack cocaine. (T8:450-451) He told the detectives he drank three or four quarts and smoked a dime rock of cocaine. (T8:450-451) Miller said he was inebriated. (T8:445, 450) He began looking for more money or alcohol. (T8:441,445) In a park, Miller picked up a pipe which was about six feet long and had a dent in it. (T8:441) He walked behind a building which was near the Sulzbacher homeless center where he saw a man sleeping under a blanket on a covered concrete porch area. (T8:442-445) In order to avoid resistance to the robbery, Miller decided to strike the man to see if he was going to struggle and then go through the man's pockets.(T8:446) Miller wanted to disable the man before taking money or alcohol from him -- he did not intend to kill the man. (T8:439, 440-441)

When Miller struck the man on the head, a woman, who was also sleeping under the blanket, awoke screaming. (T8:446-447) Miller thought the man was alone. (T8:445) Miller struck the woman, trying to knock her out. (T8:447) He thinks he may have struck the man again as well. (T8:448) As Miller struck the woman, another man approached and verbally confronted him. (T8:440, 451-453) Miller walked away with the pipe which he dropped in a nearby open area. (T8:453)

Miller retrieved his bag and immediately changed clothes, since he thought the witness might remember what his clothes looked like. (T8: 454-457) He then went to an overpass where the homeless often slept. (T8:454) For the first day he stayed there, without leaving except at night. (T8:457) The second day, Miller worked for the labor pool. (T8:457-458) Later, he was drinking beer with some other homeless men, and they talked about the man who had been killed. (T8:458) Until that time, Miller had hoped that he had merely knocked the man unconscious. (T8:458) Miller left Jacksonville on the third day after the homicide. (T8:480-481)

Miller was transported back to Jacksonville, where Detective Reddish conducted another interview and had Miller show him the scene of the crime. (T8:523-545) Miller again related the circumstances of the homicide and walked the detectives through the events at the scene. (T8:523-545) Miller explained that he

decided to strike the man to avoid any resistance to the robbery. (T8:544) He knew that some homeless people sleep with knives or guns, and he chose to strike first to prevent giving the man the opportunity to hurt him during the robbery. (T8:544)

# <u>Guilt Phase -- The Defense Case</u>

During the defense case, David Miller testified. (T8:573-T9:655) Miller said on March 5, 1997, he worked at the labor pool and then used his money to buy beer, liquor and crack cocaine. (T8:575) After drinking all the alcohol, 40 ounces of malt liquor, and smoking the cocaine, Miller started walking. (T8:576-577, T9:648-651) He picked up the pipe to carry for protection. (T8:576-577) The alcohol and cocaine had affected his judgment and he would do things he would not normally do when under the influence of drugs and alcohol. (T8:579-582) Miller said he never intended to kill anyone. (T8:582) He said the thought about taking money from the man did not come into his head until he was standing over him with the pipe. (T8:582) On cross-examination, Miller said he probably hit the man to rob him. (T9:655) However, Miller said he was operating in mechanical fashion at the time due to his impaired mental capacities. (T9:652) He started beating Linda Fullwood out of instinct when she startled and confronted him. (T9:655-658) When Jimmy Hall walked up, this caused Miller to realize what he was

doing, and he walked away. (T9:655-658) Miller explained that he turned himself in to the police because he thought someone related to the victim was following him. (T8:583) He also knew what he had done was wrong and his conscience bothered him. (T8:583-584) During Miller's testimony, the defense played an audiotaped statement Miller gave to Detective Reddish about the offense which again detailed the circumstances of the homicide. (T8:585-T9:648)

# Penalty Phase And Sentencing

The State introduced judgments of conviction for two prior violent felonies in aggravation. (T11:824-826) One was for the aggravated battery committed contemporaneously with the homicide in this case. (T11:824-826) The second was a North Carolina judgment convicting Miller of second degree murder in 1986. (T11:824-826) Albert Floyd's wife, Gwendolyn Floyd, testified as the sole State witness to victim impact information. (T11:826-829) She met Floyd and he assumed responsibility for raising her two small children and the son they later had together. (T11:827) She described Floyd as a kind, generous man who loved his children and worked hard to support them. (T11:827-828)

Miller presented the testimony of his mother, sister and brother in mitigation. (T11:830, 862, 923) They testified to Miller's family background and his difficulties with drugs and

alcohol addiction. (T11: 830, 862, 923) Additionally, Dr. Harry Krop testified about his psychological assessment of Miller. (T11:893)

Yvonne Jordan, David Miller's mother, testified about David's childhood and his later difficulties with alcohol. (T11:831-862) David was the second of four children. (T11:831, 845) His older sister, Valnese, who suffered from schizophrenia, committed suicide when she was 14 years-old and David was 13. (T11:831-832, 845) David had a close relationship with Valnese and her death affected him. (T11:834) Sharon and Leonard were two and four years younger than David. (T11:850-851) David was also very close to a cousin and neighbor, Boyd Howe, whose death also greatly affected David. (T11:835-836, 925-926) The children's father, David Miller, Sr., was an alcoholic and was physically abusive to his wife and children. (T11:839-841) He would work all week, but on the weekend, he would drink heavily and fight. (T11:839-841) Ms. described one instance when he hit her with a soda bottle causing an injury requiring stitches. (T11:840) Mr. Miller would severely discipline the children by beating them with a belt. (T11:841) Ms. Jordan divorced the children's father when David was about 13 years-old, and she moved the four children to her parents home on a farm. (T11:841-842) She described the move as a positive one for her and the children. (T11:853-856)

After David graduated from high school, he joined the Navy. (T11:846-847) When he returned from the Navy, he was a different person. (T11:847) David was drinking heavily. (T11:847-849) He behaved differently when drinking. (T11:847-848) His mother did not allow alcohol in her home, and she asked him to leave the house because of his drinking and behavior. (T11:848-849, 861-862) Rather than stop drinking, David began living in boarding houses or on the street. (T11:848-849)

Sharon Barringer, David's sister, testified. (T11:863) She said that she and David had a normal, loving brother-sister relationship growing up. (T11:863) David was particularly good in math and helped her with her homework. (T11:863) She said the relationship with their mother was the basic role model source, and she did the best she could as a single mother of four. (T11:863-864, 871-872) Their father was abusive to their mother and the children. (T11:864-867) The children did not have a relationship with Mr. Miller because he was an alcoholic and emotionally uninvolved with them. (T11:864-865)

During one incident of their father's abuse, he grabbed their mother and choked her. (T11:865) She managed to get away from him, but he chased after her. (T11:865) Their mother had obtained a firearm, she shot it to keep him away from her, and she left in the car. (T11:865) Sharon said her father was really angry. (T11:865-

866) The children called their mother and told her not to come home. (T11:866) Their father then became angry at the children and beat them all with an electrical cord. (T11:866) Sharon also described the incident when their father hit their mother with a soda bottle causing an injury requiring stitches and leaving a large scar. (T11:865)

According to Sharon, drug and alcohol use changed David's personality and made him a different person. (T11:872-873) He did not have a drinking problem in high school. (T11:869) After David graduated, he joined the Navy. (T11:871-872) Sharon noticed when David returned home that he had changed. (T11:871-872) David developed a more aggressive personality and attitude. (T11:873) He had started drinking alcohol, and Sharon also suspected drug use as well. (T11:873) Sharon said at different times she talked to David about his alcohol and drug use. (T11:878-879) She lamented that she had not made the extra effort to counsel him more on this problem. (T11:878-879)

Leonard Miller, David's brother, also testified about their family background. (T11:923) Leonard said he was very close to his brother growing up. (T11:925-926) He said David was family oriented and on one occasion risked his life trying to put out a house fire. (T11: 928-929) Their father was and alcoholic and abusive to all the children. (T11:926-927) Leonard related one incident when their

father strapped their oldest sister, Valnese, to a door and beat her with an electrical cord. (T11:927) Sometime later when Leonard was in college, he was in the house when Valnese committed suicide. (T11:927)

After David joined the Navy, he began drinking and his life changed. (T11:930) He became more aggressive. (T11:930) His mother did not tolerate any drinking in her house, and David eventually left the house because of this conflict. (T11:930-931)

Dr. Harry Krop, a clinical psychologist, testified about his examination and testing of Miller. (T11:893-898) Krop reviewed many psychiatric records from the time Miller first obtained psychiatric treatment due to hospitalization in 1983 after a suicide attempt. (T11:895-898) Krop also reviewed the depositions and other information, including Miller's confession, about the homicide. (T11:896) Finally, Krop performed various psychological tests which included a neuro-psychological test. (T11:896-897)

Based on Miller's prior psychiatric history, involving three or four inpatient hospitalizations, and his own examination, Krop found Miller's primary diagnosis to be alcohol abuse and depression. (T11:898-899) A second diagnosis was mixed personality disorder which had features of schizoid personality, which is like schizophrenia but not to the extent that the person looses contact with reality, and paranoia. (T11:900-901) These people tend to be

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