IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DAVID MILLER,

Appellant,

v. CASE NO. 93,792

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CURTIS M. FRENCH ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 291692

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 Ext. 4583

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Even Miller did not claim at trial that he struck the victim by accident. He admitted intentionally striking the victim; what he contended was that he only meant to knock the victim out and not to kill him. The jury, however, was plainly entitled to reject Miller's self-serving statements and testimony as unworthy of belief in light of all the circumstances of the case. Miller himself showed police how he had administered "full-blown" swings, raising the pipe over his head and swinging down to the victim's head (8R 536-37). Jimmie Hall testified that not only did Miller have both hands on the pipe and was swinging it "with full force" (7R 316), but the pipe was so dripping with the victims' blood that, with every swing, blood was "slung up on the wall and onto the ceiling" (7R 318-19). The medical examiner testified that Miller hit Albert Floyd in the head at least three times. And the damage he did--crushing the victim's skull in three places, bursting his eyeball, and fracturing four of his teeth--is totally inconsistent with any claim that Miller only intended to knock out, not kill, the victim. And he did not attack only Floyd; when Linda Fullwood woke up and said something, Miller attacked her too. even though, unlike Floyd, she was awake and able to throw her hands up to defend herself, and even though Miller was interrupted by the appearance of Jimmie Hall during his attack on Fullwood,

Miller still severely injured her; she suffered a concussion, two broken fingers, several fractured ribs, and injuries to her arm severe enough to have required multiple surgeries. These simply are not the kinds of injuries caused by one who intended merely to knock someone out and "accidentally" used just a bit too much force. Because competent evidence existed from which reasonable jurors could infer premeditation to the exclusion of all other inferences, the trial court did not err in allowing the state's premeditation theory of first degree murder to go to the jury. State v. Law, supra; Taylor v. State, supra.

Kirkland v. State, 684 So.2d 732 (Fla. 1996) and Coolen v. State, 696 So.2d 738 (Fla. 1997), on which Miller relies most heavily, are distinguishable. Kirkland lived in the same house as the victim. There was evidence of some friction between Kirkland and the victim. On the day of the murder, Kirkland and the victim were in the house alone. No one witnessed the murder or the events leading up to the killing, and no other evidence was presented to explain why the killing had occurred and whether or not the victim had said or done anything to provoke or otherwise anger or threaten

the defendant.⁸ <u>Coolen</u> involved a barroom stabbing following an argument over a beer.

In this case, there was no argument between the victim and Miller and no sort of provocation by the victim; the victim was sound asleep when he was attacked. Nor had there been any previous hostility between the two; Miller did not know the victim. Obviously, a sleeping Albert Floyd, unlike the victims in Kirkland and Coolen, had to be totally harmless and could not have posed any threat whatever to Miller so long as Miller left him alone. Although Miller's appellate counsel suggests in argument as to issue II that Miller may have panicked when confronted by Floyd's companion, Initial Brief of Appellant at 30-31, it is clear from the evidence that Miller had administered two skull-crushing blows to Floyd before Linda Fullwood ever woke up. As either of these two blows would have been fatal, and were administered to a sleeping Albert Floyd before Miller realized anyone else was around, they could not have been the result of any panic. Miller's intention clearly was to kill Floyd and to take his money; his only miscalculation was not to realize that Floyd had a companion who would sound an alarm and bring Jimmie Hall to the scene,

 $^{^{8}}$ This Court also found it significant that Kirkland had an IQ in the 60's. Miller, by contrast, is at least of average intelligence.

interrupting Miller's plan to rob Floyd and disappear, leaving no witness. The jury was certainly entitled to so conclude, and to reject the defendant's theory of the case. Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the jury's verdict, <u>Cochran v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, the evidence is sufficient to support a finding of first-degree, premeditated murder.

C. NO REVERSIBLE ERROR CAN BE SHOWN IN ANY EVENT, BECAUSE THIS CASE WAS PRESENTED TO THE JURY UNDER A FELONY MURDER THEORY AS WELL AS A PREMEDITATED MURDER THEORY; SINCE MILLER DOES NOT EVEN CONTEND THE EVIDENCE IS INSUFFICIENT TO PROVE FELONY MURDER, ANY INSUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE TO PROVE PREMEDITATION IS HARMLESS AS MILLER'S FIRST DEGREE MURDER CONVICTION MAY BE AFFIRMED UNDER A FELONY MURDER THEORY.

As noted previously, the jury in this case was instructed as to both premeditated murder and felony murder (10R 766). Miller makes no contention that the evidence is insufficient to support a conviction for felony murder, and such contention would in fact be frivolous. By his own admission, Miller attacked Albert Floyd with an iron pipe in furtherance of his plan to rob him. Although he was interrupted before he had a chance to complete the robbery, the jury was entitled under Florida law to find Miller guilty of felony murder if death occurred during the commission of robbery or attempted robbery. § 782.04(2) Fla. Stat. 1997. The evidence supports beyond any reasonable doubt a conclusion that Miller killed the victim during an attempted robbery, and the jury

properly convicted him of first-degree murder on this theory even if this Court were to conclude that the evidence was insufficient to support premeditated murder. Any error in instructing the jury on premeditated murder was harmless as a matter of law. Griffin v. United States, 502 U.S. 46, 112 S.Ct. 466, 116 L.Ed.2d 371 (1991); Mungin v. State, 689 So.2d 1026 (Fla. 1995).

D. AT THIS JUNCTURE, THE BURDEN IS NOT ON THE STATE; IT IS ON THE DEFENDANT. MILLER HAS FAILED TO CARRY HIS BURDEN AND HAS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE REVERSIBLE ERROR.

At trial, the burden was on the State to prove, to the satisfaction of the jury beyond any reasonable doubt, that Miller was guilty of first degree murder. That was indeed a high burden, but the State met that burden and obtained a judgment that Miller is guilty of first degree murder. That judgment comes to this Court with a presumption of correctness. Alston v. State, 723 So.2d 148, 158 (Fla. 1998). On appeal, it is no longer the State's burden to prove the defendant guilty; instead, it is now Miller's burden as the appellant to overcome the presumption of correctness that attaches to the verdict and to demonstrate its invalidity as a matter of law. Miller has failed to meet that burden, and there is no merit to his first issue.

ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT ACTED PROPERLY AND WITHIN ITS PURVIEW UNDER THE LAW IN ITS CONSIDERATION AND EVALUATION OF ALL PROFFERED MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES

Miller argues here that the trial court's evaluation of mitigation was unconstitutional because the trial court rejected three of his fifteen proffered nonstatutory mitigating circumstances. He argues that the trial court's "exclusion" of these mitigating factors from the "weighing process" renders his death sentence unconstitutional. Initial Brief of Appellant at 26.

At the outset, the State would note that a trial court's rejection of proffered mitigators after full consideration does not constitute an "exclusion" of those factors from the weighing process. In this case, the it is clear (and Miller does not contend otherwise) that the trial court fully considered and expressly evaluated in its written sentencing order each of Miller's proffered nonstatutory mitigating circumstances. In conducting this evaluation, the trial court is not required to find that every proposed mitigator is in fact mitigating; instead, the trial court must "determine whether [the proffered mitigator] is supported by the evidence and whether, in the case of nonstatutory factors, it is truly of a mitigating nature." Campbell v. State, 571 So. 2d 415, 419 (Fla. 1990). As this Court has noted, there are

"no hard and fast rules about what must be found in mitigation in any particular case . . . Because each case is unique, determining what evidence might mitigate each individual's sentence must remain with the trial court's discretion." Lucas v. State, 568 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1990). So long as the trial court conducts a "thoughtful and comprehensive analysis," Walker v. State, 707 So.2d 300, 319 (Fla. 1997), of the defendant's proffered mitigators, the trial court's "determination of lack of mitigation will stand absent a palpable abuse of discretion." Foster v. State, 654 So.2d 112 (Fla. 1995). <u>Accord</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Bonifay v. State</u>, 680 So.2d 413 (Fla. 1996) (decision as to whether a mitigating circumstance has been established, and the weight to be given to it if is established, are matters within the trial court's discretion); Wyatt v. State, 641 So.2d 355 (Fla. 1994) (decision whether any mitigating circumstances had been established was within trial court's discretion); <u>Arbelaez v. State</u>, 626 So.2d 169 (Fla. 1993) (trial court has broad discretion in determining applicability of mitigating circumstances).9

⁹ These cases are fully consistent with constitutional standards requiring "individualized sentencing." The premise explicitly underlying the United States Supreme Court's decisions in <u>Mills v. Maryland</u>, 486 U.S. 367, 108 S.Ct. 1860, 100 L.Ed.2d 384 (1988) and <u>McKoy v. North Carolina</u>, 494 U.S. 433, 110 S.Ct. 1227, 108 L.Ed.2d 369 (1990), which struck down unanimity requirements as to juries' mitigation findings, is that reasonable persons could

Thus, Miller is not entitled to appellate relief as to his sentence merely because he disagrees with the judgment of the trial court. <u>Lucas v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>. He must show an abuse of the trial court's broad discretion. <u>Ibid</u>. He has failed to do so.

A. MILLER'S INTENT TO KILL

Miller first contends the trial court erred in rejecting this proffered mitigator. The State has addressed the sufficiency of the evidence to support a finding of premeditated murder in its argument as to Issue I, and relies upon that argument here. The evidence, as the State argued above, is sufficient to demonstrate beyond any reasonable doubt that the killing was intentional.

differ both as to what circumstances are mitigating at all and, as well, as to the weight to be given to such circumstances. Thus, each juror must be allowed to determine for himself or herself what is mitigating. So long as the sentencer is not precluded as a matter of law from giving effect to proffered mitigation, the "requirement of individualized sentencing in capital cases is satisfied by allowing the jury to consider all relevant mitigating evidence." Blystone v. Pennsylvania, 494 U.S. 299, 307, 110 S.Ct. 1078, 108 L.Ed.2d 255 (1990). The Constitution "does not require a State to ascribe any specific weight to particular factors, either in aggravation or mitigation, to be considered by the sentencer." <u>Harris v. Alabama</u>, 513 U.S. 504, 115 S.Ct. 1031, 130 L.Ed.2d 1004, 1014 (1995). In fact, the Court's decisions "suggest that complete jury discretion is constitutionally permissible." Buchanan v. Angelone, ____ U.S. ____, 118 S.Ct. 757, 761-62, 139 L.Ed.2d 702 (1998). <u>See</u>, also, <u>Burger v. Kemp</u>, 483 U.S. 794, 107 S.Ct. 3114, 97 L.Ed.2d 638 (1987) ("mitigation may be in the eye of the beholder"); Tuilaepa v. California, 512 U.S. 967, 114 S.Ct. 2630, 129 L.Ed.2d 750, 767 (1994)(Souter, J., concurring)("refusing to characterize ambiguous evidence as mitigating or aggravating is . . . constitutionally permissible").

Moreover, the State would contend that, even assuming, arguendo, that this Court were to determine that the evidence was insufficient to support a conviction for premeditated murder because it failed to "exclude" either Miller's contention that the killing was unintentional, or perhaps some other theory of non-premeditation not even raised by Miller, the trial court was still correct in rejecting this proffered mitigator. At the penalty phase, it was the defendant's burden to establish mitigation by "the greater weight of the evidence." Chandler v. State, 702 So.2d 186 (Fla. 1997). Miller has not established by the greater weight of the evidence that the killing was unintentional. Therefore, trial court's determination that this mitigator "has not been proven" was clearly correct. Certainly, no palpable abuse of discretion has been shown.

B. MILLER'S ALLEGEDLY ABUSIVE CHILDHOOD

Miller contends the trial court erred in rejecting Miller's allegedly abusive childhood as a mitigating circumstance after finding it to be factually established. Although, as noted in the Appellee's Statement of Facts, no witness testified that Miller's father was an alcoholic or could provide any information about how much he did drink, the trial court nevertheless did find that the "father apparently did abuse alcohol" (2R 370). The trial court

also found that "on a few occasions [Miller's father] was abusive primarily to defendant's mother and sometimes to the children including the defendant" (2R 370). The trial court found, however, that although "some aspects" of Miller's childhood might be slightly mitigating, the "totality" of Miller's family background is not mitigating.

It should be noted that the only evidence of any "abuse" was the testimony of Miller's mother and sister to the effect that the father administered corporal punishment to the children either with a belt or an electrical cord, once every 6-8 months, sometimes for good reason, sometimes not. One could disapprove of this treatment, however, without necessarily characterizing Miller's childhood as "abusive." There was no testimony that any childhood whipping actually inflicted physical injuries to Miller, and no testimony of any other kind of physical abuse. Moreover, as the trial court noted, the father was out of the home by the time Miller was 13, and he was raised in the home of his maternal grandparents -- a home filled with "much love and support" (2R 370). The record clearly supports the trial court's finding that Miller "was regularly taken to church and Sunday school," and was "bright and creative." It is also clear from the record that, as the trial court found, Miller's brother and sister, who were raised in the

same circumstances, "have been law abiding citizens and have earned professional careers" (2R 370). All in all, Miller enjoyed the support of "a very close, loving and supportive family" (2R 370).

On this record, the trial court's rejection of this proffered mitigator is not a "palpable abuse of discretion." <u>State</u>, <u>supra</u>. <u>See</u> <u>Kight v. State</u>, 512 So.2d 922, 933 (Fla. 1987) (no error in trial court's failure to find Kight's abusive childhood as non-statutory mitigating factor); Jones v. State, 652 So.2d 346, 351 (Fla. 1995) (where defendant's mother was unable to care for him but left him in the care of relatives who could, trial "court did not abuse its discretion by refusing to find in mitigation that Jones had been abandoned by an alcoholic mother"); Sochor v. State, 619 So.2d 285, 293 (Fla. 1993) (deciding whether family history establishes mitigating circumstances is within the trial court's discretion; no abuse of discretion where trial judge considered the testimony of physical abuse by Sochor's father and other evidence of family and personal history and determined it did not rise to the level of a mitigating circumstance); Valle v. State, 581 So.2d 40, 48-49 (Fla. 1991) (trial court properly weighed and rejected evidence of dysfunctional family and abusive childhood as mitigating factors).

There was no testimony or other evidence establishing that this murder was measurably influenced by any abuse Miller suffered in his childhood. Lara v. State, 464 So.2d 1173, 1180 (Fla. 1985)(allegedly abusive childhood properly rejected where defendant's actions in committing murder were not "significantly influenced by his childhood experience"). At most, Miller's childhood "may provide slight mitigation" (2R 370), and any possible error in according no weight to his childhood has to be harmless. Damren v. State, 696 So.2d 709, 714 (fn. 18) (Fla. 1997); Wickham v. State, 593 So.2d 191 (Fla. 1991); Cook v. State, 581 So.2d 141 (Fla. 1991); Zeigler v. State, 580 So.2d 127, 130-31 (Fla. 1991); Rogers v. State, 511 So.2d 526 (Fla. 1987).

C. MILLER'S ABUSE OF ALCOHOL AND ILLEGAL DRUGS

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